Sanctuary Surgical Centre, Inc. et al v. United Healthcare, Inc. et al

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 1081589€IV-HURLEY
SANCTUARY SURGICAL CENTRE, INC. et al.,
plaintiffs,
VS.

UNITEDHEALTH GROUP, INC.,
defendants.

/

ORDER SUA SPONTE VACATING OCTOBER 22, 2012 ORDER GRANTING
PARTIAL DISMISSAL OF PLAINTIFF'S SECOND AMENDED COMPLAINT
ORDER DISMISSING COUNTS 1and fOF PLAINTIFF'S SECOND AMENDED
COMPLAINT WITHOUT PREJUDICE & DISMISSING COUNTS 2 and 3 ¢
PLAINTIFF S" SECOND AMENDED COMPLAINT WITH PREJUDICE
ORDER TO égLHOW CAUSE
THIS CAUSE is before the courtsua spontefor review of the court file and
reconsideration of the operative pleadingthis actionfollowing the defendants’ recent filing of
answes and multiple counterclaimscorresponding tceach of the 96 purported derivative
ERISA benefit claims at issue in this actjamewedin conjunction with the parties’ joint request
to set thetrial of this matterin June 2014 due tthe voluminousclaims, counterclaims and
anticipated extended discovery proceedings upouol#i@snow pending.
Uponsua spontgeconsideratiomf the issues framed by tloperative second amended

complaint[ECF No. 94] and the defendants’ previously fitadtion to dismisglaintiffs’ second

amended complainECF No. 98] the court has determined $0a sponteracateits October 22,
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2012 order which dismissed Count 1 of plaintiffs second amended compéadt sustained
Counts 2 through 4 [ECF No. 112]. The following opinion memorandum issabstitutel in
its stead
l. Background
The background facts and procedural history of the case have been set out in prior opinions
and will not be reiterated here except to the extent necessary to explain the cought
opinion.

Plaintiffs Sanctuary SurgicalCenter Inc. and GladiolusSurgical CenterLLC (“the
“facilities”) are both licensed ambulatory surgical centers engaged in the business of providing
ambulatory surgical service® patients. Plaintiffs Bfsicians SurgidaGroup LLC, Naples
Physicians Surgical Group LLC, PSG ®buthFlorida, LLC and RysiciansSurgcal Group of
Boca RatonLLC are Florida companies which provide medical and management seBjces.
this action, faintiffs seek payment for medical services, and specificallyn@nipuldion urder
anesthesigroceduresor “MUAs,” provided at the facilities tgpatientsinsuredunder various
employersponsoredyroup health insurangeolicies issuedby defendantdJnitedHealth Group
Inc., Unted Health @reServices, hc. and Uited Healthcare Insuran€ompany(cumulatively
“United”). It is undisputed that there are at least 300 different health insurance plans gpvernin
996 derivative ERISA benefit claims assertaa behalf ofapproximately500 different patiets

at issudn this action



All plaintiffs are nonparticipatingproviders in Unitet$ health insurance networRrior to
providing medical srvices to the patientglaintiffs’ representativeelephonedhe defendants
and spoke withrmagent to confirm oubf-network coverage for theequestedervices. During
each callthe plaintiffs’ representativevas allegedly informed bg United agentthat tiere was
coverage for plaintif’ facility fees and for th@roceduresnvolved. Plaintiffs allege that they
had no access to any of the health insurance plans at issue when they placed thenurataumnt
calls for verification of benefits, and therefore “had to rely” on United’'s Verbafication of
coverage and promise of paymdigfore rendering treatmenfSecond Amended Complaint 1
39-40].

Raintiffs allegedly received an assignmeitbenefits fromall involved patients,eachone
of whom hadout-ofnetwork benefits for ambulatory surgery under their respegreelp
insuranceagreenentsor plans with Urted. Plaintiffs allege that the “standard” assignment of
benefit form signed byaehpatient provided as follows:

| understand that | am responsible for all charges. As a courtesy, my imsuranc
will be billed for me. It is my rgmonsibility to pay any deductible copay or any
other balance not paid for by my insurance company. | authorize insurance
benefits to be paid directly to the provider.

By signing below, | acknowledge that | authorize payment to [plaintiff]... Ehav
beenpresented with a copy of the Notice of Privacy Policy... | understand the
contents of the notice. | request medical insurance benefits either to myself, or

the party who accepts assignment. Regulations pertaining to mediganassts
of benefits apply.

" The patients are identified by patient ID number in six separate attachioetite second amended complaint
corresponding to each medical provider plaintiff. Each exhibit assigthronological numerical identification to
each patient [[B48; 1369; 1109; 197; 1-97; 1-50 and 123 respectively], followed by the individual's patient 1D
number, group 1D number, description of the underlying condition pretiigjtthe procedure, and procedure dates.
In this fashion, the complaint identifies a totala®6 individual claims arising from separate medical procedures
and occurrences.



[Second Amended Complaint  61Rlaintiffs allege that United initially honored the claims for
MUAs submitted by plaintiffs by sendingayment directly to plaintiffer to the patientdor a
number of years, but at some indeterminate point in time began systematicailygdére
claims “on the basis that they were an unproven service, experimental, inu@siigatot
medically necessary” and/or beyond the scope of covered benefdsvares [Second Amended
Complaint 11 41-42].

As assigneef eachpatientsright toreceive payment for covered medical services utiaer
respectiveplans plaintiffs bring this action contendintpat Unted improperly denied thelaims
for paymer in violation of the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 19ER(SA”),

29 U.S.C81132(3 (1) (B) (Count 1) breachediduciary duties ofoyalty and car@wed toplan
“beneficiaries,” purportedly including boththe assignéeedical providers and the
patienfassignors,n violation of ERISA, 29 U.S.C. § 113@) (3) (Cownt 2), and failed to
provide plaintiffs with plan documents in violation &RISA, 29 U.S.C.8 1024(b) (4) (Cour
3). In addition, the plaintiffs assertindependentlaims for equitable estoppel based on the
preapproval telephoneonversationsexchangedbetween plaintiff's employees and United’'s

representativefCount 4).

‘Although plaintiffs couch the estoppel claims as ones asserted under the “tedenadn law of ERISA,” asserting
these claims as plan “beneficiaries” in their own right;pprtedly deriving from their status as assignees of plan
proceeds [Second Amended Complaint, §9%8F the allegations of the complaint clearly demonstrate that
plaintiffs are basing their estoppel claims on telephone conversations hetlagiffs’ employees and defendants’
representatives to which no patient was a party. Thus, the plgirgifiders are not and could not be “standing in
the shoes” of the patients or asserting derivative ERISAppstalaims on behalf of patients seeking to enforce
federal common law claims against defendants. Instead, at best plaistiissarting independent, direct federal
common law equitable estoppel claims on their own behalf, and thétyiabthese claims will be assessed on this
basis.



l. Wrongful D enial of ERISA Plan Benefits

United contends thatl the derivative ERISA benefdaimsshould be dismissed because
plaintiffs havefailed to allegesufficient factsto demonstrate that Unitexicoverage decisions
plausibly amounted to an abuse of discretiod thereforeonstitutel an ERISA violation In
particular, United contends that the plaintiffs’ failure s$pecifically plead which plan
provision(s) afford them the claimembverageentitlementas to each patiens fatal to their
ability to state a plausible claim undgell Atlantic Corp. v Twonbly, 550 U.S. 544 (2007).

To survive a motion to dismiss undéwombly,plaintiffs must plead “enough facts to
state a claim to relief that is plausible on its face.” A claim has facial plausibility Wiee
plaintiff pleads factual content that allowsethourt to draw the reasonable inference that the
defendant is liable for the misconduct allegédhcroft v Igbal, 556 U.S. 662 (2009). The
plausibility standard is not a “probability requirement,” but it requires more thaheer s
possibility that a dendant has acted unlawfulljwomblyat 555;Igbal at 679.

In analyzing whether plaintiffs have pleaded sufficient facts to denad@dtrat United’s
coveragaleterminationglausidy amounted to an abuse of discretion, the court is “not bound to
acceptas true a legal conclusion couched as a factual allegatigal at 678 Rather, legal
conclusions must be supported by factual allegations to survive a motion to dastossjulaic
recitation of the elements of a caudeaction will not do.”ld.

The court’s analysis of thseufficiency of plaintiffs’ derivative ERISA benefit claims
under this standarbdegins with the recognition that benefits payable uaaeERISA plan are
limited to thebenefits specified in the pla@lair v. Harris Trust & SaingsBank 190F.3d 495

(7" Cir. 1999). Accordingly, “[a] plaintiff who brings a claim for benefits under ER{Sudst



identify aspecificplan term thatonfersthe benefit in question Stewart v NationalEducation
Assn, 404 F. Supp. 2d 122, 130.D. C. 2005), citingClair at 499,aff'd 471 F.3d 169 (D. C.
Cir. 2006). See also MidweSpecial Surgery, P.C. v. Anthem Ins., G910 WL 71610%t *2-3
(E.D. Mo. 2010) In re Managed Care Litigatigqr20090 WL 742678 (S.D. &12009); Steelman

v. Prudential Ins Co of America2007 WL 1080656 at *7 (E.D. Cal. Apr. 4, 2007). In addition,
to state a plausible ERISA claim, the complaint nifysbvide the court with enough factual
information to determingvhetherthe [services] were indeed coveredvsees under the plah
Advanced Rehabilitation, LLC v United Health Group,. 12811 WL 995960 (D. N.J.pff'd,
2012 WL 4354782 (3d Cir. 2012road St. Surgical Centre., LLC WnitedHealth Group, Inc.,
2012 WL 762498 (D.N.J. March 6, 2012).

As appliedhere, this meanplaintiffs mustat least identify the specific plan provisions
under which coverage is conferred with respecedohof the 996 derivative ERISA claims
identified in its complaintand to allege sufficient facts mausiblyshow the sefices rendered
to each patient were indeed covered underghdtcular plan.

Plaintiff argues that it hasrgvided and cited specific language from sixnmary plan
descriptionsand two certificates of coverage which arguably encompass coverage fdiJtA
procedures at issue. As to other plans, plaintiffs atgaeUnited has failed to provide plan
documents tathemdespite plaintiffs’ requestiSecond Anended Complaint, I 46, 93]. The six
summary plan descriptions are summarized in plaintiffs’ complaint as follows

(1) Reed Elsevier Plan

Plaintiffs describe the definition of “covered health services” in this plan as including

“those healtrservices provided for the purposepoéventing diagnosingr treatinga



Sickness, Injury, Mentalllness substanceabuse or their symptoms."Plaintiffs
further excerpt from thplan’s description of covered “outpatient surgery, diagnostic
and therapeutic servicedéfining “covered health serviceso include those received
“on an outpatient basis at a lgdal or alternate Facility, including surgery and
related service’s with benefits payable for “only the facility charge and the charge
for required sernees, supplies and equipment.”

(2) IBM Medi cal Plan
Plaintiffs cite thelBM Plan general insuring claus®r “medical services deemed
necessary in the diagnosiadtreatment of injury, illness and/or pregnancy, as well
as certain preventive care services,” and the fumbguirementhat “all treatment
services orsupplies muste generally accepted in themedical profession ... as
medically necessary and appropriate for the condltigingtreated. The complaint
also cites the IBM Plan definition dimedical necessity'which restricts coverage to
those health care services and supplies which are:
-necessary to meet the basic health needs of the covered; person

-rendered inthe most cost effecte manner and type of setting appropriate for the
deliveryof the health service

-consistent in type, frequency and durationtiatment withscientifically based
guidelines of national medical or health care coveraggnizatios or medical
branches ofUntied States garnment agencies

-consistent with the diagnosis of the condition;

-required for reasons other than the comemece ofthe covered person or his or her
physician



(3) The American Airlines Plan

As cited in the plaintiffs’ complaint, the American Airlines Plan extecolgeragefor
facility charges and services and supplies at outpatient surgical facilitiesrasdally
necessary surgical procedstewhich are provided “for the purpose of preventing,
diagnosing ortreating a sickness injury disease or symptom.”e TBM Plan further
defines*medical necessityto require that theupplies and services must be:
-supportedy national medicastandards gpractice;

-consistent with conclusiors prevailing medicalreseach that demonstrate the health
services have beneficial effect on healtlicomesand are based on trials that meet the
following designs: (1) weltondwcted randomized controlled trialftwo or more
tredmentscompared to each other, where patientsrateallowed to choose which
treatment is received); (2) walbnductedcohort studiegwhere patients receivingusly
treatment are compared to patergseiving standard therapy, with comparison group

“nearly identical” to study treatment group);

-the most cost effective method, yielding a similar outcome to the otlzlalze
alternatives;

-not speifically excluded in any section of tipéan

(4) The DeltaNon-Pilots Plan

As cited in plaintiffs’ complaint this Plan covers “those health services supplies or
equipment provided for the purpose of preventing, diagnosing or treating a sickness,
injury, disease or symptoms,” providebat the services r@ supported by national
medical standards of practice consistent with conclusions of prevailingaheskearch;

the most cost effective method yielding a similar outcome to other available altespativ

and not excluded under any “not covered” section of the plan.



(5) The Hill Manufacturing Company Han

Plaintiffs describe the Hill Plan as om®vering ‘health services including outpatient
surgery and related services, supplies or pharmaceutical products theigblan
administrator determines to:be

-provided for the purpose of preventing, diagnosing or treatingkaé&ss,Injury Mental
lliness, substance abuse or other symptoms;

-consistent with nationally ocegnizedscientific evidence asavailable, andprevailing
medical standasgland clinical guidelines as described [in the plan];

-not provided for the convenience of the covered person, physicidity fac any other
person,

-describedin the “Certificate” under “Section 1: Covered Health Services” and in the
“Schedule of Benefits,” and

- not otherwise excluded under “Section ZHsions and Limit&ons.”

The Hill Plan expressly defineshe following terms for use in applying the above
definitions:

-“Scientific evidence” means theesults of controlled clinical trialsor other studies
publishedin peer reviewed, mechl literature geerally recognized by theelevant
medical specialty community;

-“Prevailing medical standards and clinical guidelines” meari®mally recognized
profession(sic) standais of care inluding but not limited to,national consensus
statements, nationallyecognized clinical guidelines, anthtional specialty society
guidelines.

(6) The Miami-Dade County Public SchoolsPlan

Plaintiffs describe thigllan as oneproviding benefits for “Cosred Health Servicées
described in Section 1 of tikan, unless they are listed ‘&$ot Covered” in Section 2 of

the Ran. Theycite from Section 1, which extendsoveragefor facility fees and

professional fees associated witlhutpatient surgery, diagnostic and therapeutic



services’ where“only the facility charge and the charge for required seryisepplies

and equipmeritis covered by the plan.

The plaintiffs do not indicate in their complaint which of the 996 claidentified in the
compositeexhibit to the complaintorrespond to which fothe six exemplarsummary plan
descriptions or two certificates of coverage, or which correspond to other placgedobr
described in the complaindo not attach the full plan documents governing the exemplar plans,
and do not cite relevant portions of ttexclusionary” sectiongrom thereferenced exemplar
plans.

As to the remaining plans, they allege “upon information and belief’ thatofathe
health insurance plans asue define covered benefits in a margmnsistent with the language”
of the sixexemplar plangand “template language for certificates of coverageiployed by
United forits Florida-based health plangjthout providing any factual basis for this soppion

Plaintiffs also allege “uporinformation andbelief’ that eachof the sixexemplarplans
contains“Exclusions from Coverage” sections, none of which dmely identify MUAs as
non-covered procedurd§52-54. Finally, Plaintiffs conclude thatinited’s denial of the MUA
claims at issu€'violated the terms of the relevant plans whereintédhagreed to pay for
medically necessary (an@mexperimental, noinvestigational) procedures as a covered service

or a coered benefiunder each patient’s plani58], again without providingny supporting

" Beyondlists of specific treatments excluded from the plans, referenced in giiotimplaint, the exemplar plans
also contain exclusions for the broad category of “experimental ortigagsnal” services or supplies [ECF NO.
76-7; 762 at 213; 763 at 13738; 765 at 71; 768 at 4445; 7610 at 39; 281 at 24; 2& at 30] which plaintiffs do
not cite in their complaint, despite acknowledgment that some of the dtairals were premised on the exclusion
for unproven, experimental or investigational services.
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textual supportfrom the specific relevantplan language to support this naked assertion of
coverage.

Theseallegations do not establish, or even address, whetherdvlld&a covereldenefit
under the cite@xemplamplans or how MUAs fall within the definition of “medically necessary”
treatmentunder any of those plans. Thiaiptiffs’ selective reference tooverage excerptfrom
these plansyithout also includinga citation torelevant exclusionargrovisions \hich in some
plans are expressly incorporated into the definitiowlwdt is covereddoesnot provide the court
with enough factual information to determine whether the MUAs were §ctimlered services
evenunderthe six exemplar summary plan deptions whichplaintiffs selectively cite. The
furtherallegation thahone ofthe six exemplaplanscontainlanguage thagpecificallyexcludes
MUAs from coverage does nothing to assist the court in conducting this inquiry.

As to the remaining planshich plaintiffs do not identify or describplaintiffs provide
no supporfor the speculative allegatippurportedly made “upon information and belighat
all 300 of the plans at issue contaimfigar’ coveragdanguage. Withoud precise description

of the relevant coverage and exclusionary langudgal plans, and no allegations showing

" Plaintiffs’ allegation that the defendaritave failed or refused to provide plaintiffs with requested plan dodsmen
does not cure this fundamental pleading deficiency. ERIB%ides that plan administrators shall “upon written
request of any participant or beneficiary furnish a copy of the latestagpgdatmary, plan description.” 29 U.S.C.
81024(H (4). While a “beneficiary” may enforce this obligation under the ERISA eiforcement prevision,
§1332(c), a third party to the contract nra.

Plaintiffs may have received an assignment of the right to diremteec of benefits from United, but this is not the
same thing as same thing as an assignment of all ERISA rights and blld by the participants and beneficiaries
under the plas, and does not confer “beneficiary” status upon plaintiffs for purpafseenferring the right to
demand or standing to sue for recovery of plan documents under ER#8i&. Clinics of Ohio v Longaberger
Family of Companies Group Medicaldn, 459 F. Spp. 2d 617 (S.D. Ohio 2005), citintdermann Hospital v
MEBA Medical and Benefits Pl&869 F.2d 569 (5 Cir. 1992)(“Neither [the insured’s] act of authorizing the Plan
to make payments directly to [the medical provider], nor [the inssfr@adsignment of the right to recover payments
for benefits provided, elevated [the provider] to the status of benefigiasr the Plan.”).

11



how MUAs fall within the various definitions of “medical necessity” incorporatgdhmse
plans,and ouside the definition of “experimental or investigational” services excludethdy
plans, plaintiffsfails to state plausible ERISA benefdsims upon which relief can be granted.
See e.g. Paragon Office Services, LLC v. UnitedHead¢hinsurance Co 2012 WL 5868249
(N.D. Tex. 2012)(“Because, to recover, plaintiffs must show that defendardsasloitearily and
capriciously under the terms of the plan, it is necessary to state a plausibldoclaglief that
they at least identify the precise plaroysions on which they rely”)In re Managed Care
Litigation, 2009 WL 742678 (S.D. Fla. 2009)(granting motion to disr8isk32(a)(1)(B) claim
where complaint did not identify relevant plan terms).

Further, the generalized allegation thalt the MUAs for which coverage is sought were
all “medically necessary, established medical procedures for theispecddical underlying
conditions of each patient in this case and were xpé¢rénental or investigatory procedures
[Complaint, paragraph 28], joed with allegation that “MUAshave been established as
medically necessary safe and effective for gerposeof relieving the patients’ underlying
condition(s)’and are listed asCategoryl CPT des in the AmericaMedical Association’s

AMA Codeboolkof Reimbursable Proceduredd not add weight to the plausibility of plaintiffs’

Further, as noted iBarix, “[a] plan administrator is under no obligation to disclose plan documentsdagtiities
without written authorization from a participant or beneficiafgdrix at 625, citingBartling v Fruehauf Corp 29
F.3d 1062 (B Cir. 1994), and “it would be unfair to penalize an administrator findato disclose plan documents
to a third party who has not informed the administrator of its status asignessand putative beneficiary.”

In this case, plaintiffs do not allege that they submitted to United (or theaghaimistrator) any written request or
authorizatiorfrom the patientallowing disclosure of plan documents directly to them. Nor do they alteqgehey
informed United or the plan administrator that they had redetcomplete assignments from plan participants or
beneficiaries, or that they were requesting plan documents pursubeirfourported designation as a “beneficiary”
by any plan participant. Without such a predicate, they fail to alleg@ation of 29 U.S.C. §1024(b)(4), and any
corresponding basis which might excuse their failure to propddgeathe terms of each plarpan which each of
the assigned claims at issue is predicated.

12



claims. As noted bthe Third Circuit inAdvanced Rehabilitatiorsuprg “[A] mere CPT code is

not enough to establish a plausible égnmentto relief... [I]n its introductionto the Codebook,

the AMA warns that “[ijnclusion in the ..Codebook does not represent endorsement... of any
patticular diagnostic or therapeutic procedfirand that'[ijnclusion or exclusion of a procedure
does not imply any health insurance coverage or reimbursement policy.”

Accordingly, the courtshallgrantUnited’smotion to dismiss plaintiffs§ 1132(a (1) (B)
claims for unpaicERISA benefits due under the terms of the pléorsfailure to state a claim
upon which relief can be granted. The coudllsdismiss this claim without prejudice to the
refilling of an amended complaint which seeks to cure the deficiencies outlinbt iarder;
however, while granting leave to amend, the court expresses serious reservation over the
permissibility of the prsuit of the voluminous claims aggregatedhis single proceeding under
the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure. With nearly one thousand claimsgafiem separate
transactions and occurrences aggregated in this proceeding, the plaintiffdaicbrapars to
structure an impermissible way of circumventing the federal class actioinem@ents, including
the requirements of Rule 23.

Further, in light of the very limited nature of the assignment of rights undeh phaintiffs
proceed in this actionhé court perceives a potentially fatal deficiency with the cumpanty
alignment in this litigation- which notably does not include the patients who still own the
underlying ERISA claims and who remain fully responsible for the full amourteofmedical
bills at issue regardless of thatcomeof this lawsuit.

Accordingly, if plaintiffs opt tore-pleadthe derivative ERISA benefit claims aggregated in

this action, tkey must conform any amended pleading submitted with the compulaad

13



permissive joinder restrictions imposed by Rules 19 and 20, as well as tlidgfglanomination
requirements of Rule 17. In the event plaintiffs choose to continue pursuit of this action as
assignees of the 996 underlyiBRISA claimsbrought on behalf of approximately 500 patients,
they are further directed to show cause, by separate statement simuliasabuastted to the
court, as to why the court should not order the compulsory joinder of the patients as necessary
indispensable parties under Rule 19, and direct the severance of each individutdrghairauit
in a separate lawsuit pursuant to Rules 20(a) and 21, as more particularly disclasged be
SHOW CAUSE ORDER RE: MISJOINDER OF CLAIMS AND PARTIES

Because thepartial assignment of rights upon which plaintiffs predicate their standing t
asserthe derivative ERISA benefitlaims is not an assignent of every righor cause of action
which the participarg or beneficiales may have under ERISAgeDallas CountyHosp. District
v AssociatésHedth & Wefare Plan,293 F.3d 282(8 Cir. 2002)fhospital’s entitlement to plan
benefis and derivative standing to sueassignee “is of no relevance in determining whether it
is an ERISA beneficia)y Hermann Hospital WIEBA Medical &Benefits Plan845 F.2d 1286
(5™ Cir. 1988), overruled in part on other grounfiscess MediquipL.L.C. v. UnitedHealthCare
Ins. Co.,698 F.3d 229 (“SCir. 2012), the patients on whose behalf the ERIBé&nefitclaims
are pursued still own the claims. Further, because the partial assignmeninsf wks not
accepted by the plaintiff medical providers as full payment for their senvicg rather by its
terms was executed solely as a convenience for the patients, who are chargédll with
responsible for the underlying medical bills regardless ofotiteome of the insurance claim
there is at least a suggestion that pladientassignors necessarihgtain an interest in thse

claims and aradditionalreal parties in intereso this litigation U. S. exrel. Eisenstein vCity

14



of New York556 U.S. 928 (2009), citing 6A C. Wright, A. Miller & M. Kane, Federal Practice
and Procedure81545, pp. 354353 (2d ed. 1990)(*"[W]hen there has been ... a partial
assignment the assignor and #ssignee each retain an interest in the claim and are both real
parties in interest.)Meridien Int'| Bank Ltd. v National Union Fire Ins. Co of Pittsburgh,, PA
1994WL 481944 (S.D. N.Y 1994(”[W]here the assignment is nat complete assignment but
only the trasfer of the equitable interest in the proceeds of the policy, [] the insured assignor
remains the real party in ingst.” ), quoting 18 George J. Couch, Cyclopedia of Insurance law
74.313 at 778 (1987Texas San Juan Qil Corp v /AAon Offshore Dlling Co., 194 F. Supp.396
(S.D.N.Y. 1961).
In addition, because th@rovider plaintiff/assigneeslid not accepthe assignment®of

benefits apayment in full, leaving the patients exposed to liability for payment in full rezgsed|
of the outcome ofhis litigation,and because the patient/assigraicsnot transfer all rights and
causes of action under their respective health insurance algnsstion also arises as to whether
the joinder of theassignor/patientasindispensabl®r necessarpartiesis required under Rule
19. Accordingly, should plaintiffattempt to repleadtheir derivative ERISA benefit claims in
Count 1, they shall bsimultaneouslyile a separate statement of causfeany there be, as to
why the court should not:

(1) orcer the joinder of the patients asal parties in int@st under Rule 17(a), arui/ as

indispensable and necesspayrties under Rule 19(d)andor

‘Rule 19(a) provides that a party is necessary if: (1) in his absenceetemgief cannot be accorded among those
already parties; or (2) he claims an interest relating to the subjdxt attion and is so situated that the disposition
of the action in his absence may (i) as a practical matter impair or énfipedbility to protect that interest or (ii)
leave any of the persons already parties subject to a substantial riskuwingpclouble, multiple or otherwise
inconsistent obligations by reason of this claimed interest.

15



(2) exercise its idependent duty tgrevent improperly joined claims and parties from
proceeding in a single caseGeorge v Smith607 F.3d 605 (7 Cir. 2007) by ordering, pursuant
to Rule 21, theseverance of thenrelated996 individualERISA claimscurrently aggregated in
this proceeding into separate lawsuits, and directing the plaintiffs to sulsepaaatdiling fee
for each severed claim thidtey choose to pursue aseparate suitSeee.g.Grennell v Western
SoutherrLife Ins. Co0.,298 F. Supp. 2d 390 (S.D. W. Va. 2004)(2200 individual policy holders
asserting fraudulent sales practice claims against insurer improperdy jaBjoint plaintiffs
under Rule 20(a)even though they all purchased same basic product, where each purchase was
induced by a different misregsentation and claimshence did not arise out of same transaction,
occurrence or series of occurrencgunshine Imaging Association/WNARI v. GEICO, 66
A.D.3d 1419, 885 N.Y.S.2d 55N.Y. App. 4" Dept. 2@9)(severancevarranted in actiofior
recovery of w-fault benefits from patients’ insurer brought bgdiological services provideas
assignee of 14 patientwhere ausesf action arose from 14 dierent automobile accidents on
various dates in which 14 unrelated assignors suffered diuvgtsges and required diffeant
medical treatment)See generally DirecTV, Inc. v. Leto 467 F.3d 842, 845 (3d Cir.
2006)(although district court has discretion to choose either severance or disnesseedying

misjoinder, it is permitted under Rule 21 to opt for the latter only if Sjus. if doing so “will

In this case, with regard to the second criterion, certainly the patiergsahanterest relating to the subject of this
action, as they remain fully liable ftie full amount of the medical bills at issue under the terms of the assignment
—regardless of the outcome of this casred their absence may well impede their ability to protect their interes
collecting benefits under their respective plans in order to eliminatefsat difiat liability. Further, the failure to

join the patients may put the defendants at risk of incurring doubilconsistent liabilities, as the patients retain
ownership of all causes of action under the ERISA plans and coalctivally bring separate suits against United

in the future.

! Rule 20 prohibits plaintiffs from joining together to file one action urtless claims arise out of “the same

transaction, occurrence or series of transactions or occurrences” and éstigrgof law or fact common to all
plaintiffs will arise in the action.”

16



not prejudice any substantial righstich asloss of otherwise timely claimspee generally
Acevedo Garcia v Monroj@51 F.3d 547 €1Cir. 2003).
. Breach of Fiduciary Duty

The defendants next argue that the plaintiffs lack standing to bring the breachc@&rfidu
claims asserted under 8113P(3) by assignmentAs indicated above, a messsignmentsf
the right to direct paymerdf benefits—as allegedn this case- is insufficient on its fae to
confer “beneficiary” status on the plaingffasit gives noindication that theatientassignors
intended to assigtheir rightto bring causes of action under other provisions of ERISA which do
not relate to benefits reimbursementSee DalladHospital Hermann Hospital, supteéSee also
Texas Life Accident Health & Hospital Seice Ins.GuarantyAssn. v. Gaylord Enertainment
Co., 105 F.3d 210 {3Cir. 1988). Plaintiffs seemingly overlook this distinction, responding
with the wellestablished rule that providers who receive benefit assignments may sug direct
for ERISA benefits under §1132(a) (1) (B this regard, they rely exclusively @onnecticut
StateDental Assn. v Anthem Health Plans,.I661 F.3d 1337 (i’lCir. 2009), which involved a
claim for unpaid benefits und&1132(a (1) (B) and which therefore did not address whether
assignments of the right to reimbursement were effective to assigrs alaiter§81132(a (2)
and (3 (3) as well. See Conn. State Dent&d1 F. 3d at 1350-53 .

Following careful review of thassignmenlkanguage which plaintiffs recite in the complaint,
the court concludes thahe medicalprovider plaintiffsfail to alleg sufficient facts to show
standing to bring derivative breach fiduciary duty claias allegedt Count 2 of the complaint.
The partial assignments referenced by plaintiffs do not alter the telgdionship between

United andits patientdubscribers, butather simply provide theonvenienceof allowing the
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subscriberdo obtain needed healttare on thamplicit promise of later paymemdf insurance
benefits to the providerAccordingly, the assignments as described are ineffective to assign
any right to pursue breach of fiduciary duty claimand theplaintiffs’ 81132 (al3) clains shall

be dismissed with prejudider lack of standing and failure to state a claim upon which relief
may be grantedSee in re Wellpointnc. Out-of-Network UCR Ratelksitigation, _ F. Supp. 2d

_, 2012 WL 5193815 (C.D. Cal. Sept. 6, 2012)(providers inadequately alleged that they were
assigned patients’ ERISA claims against insurer for breach of fiduciayyaddtequitable relief

as required to establish Article Btanding to bring patients’ claims)

Additionally, and in thealternative plaintiffs fail to statederivativebreach of fiduciary duty
claims to the extent they premise these claonsan alleged improper, arbitrary or capricious
denial of benefits. See Lifecare Management Services LLC v Insurang@nagement
Administrators, Inc.,_  F.3d __, 2013 WL 57035”(5:ir. 2013) (“[w]hen a beneficiary wants
what was supposed to have been distributed under a plan, the appropriate reméaiynidoa c
denial d benefits under 502(a)(1)(B) of ERISA rather than a fiduciary duty claim brought
pursuant to 502(a)(3) citing McCall v Burlington Mrthern/ Santa FeCo, 237 F.3d 506 (&

Cir. 2000);Capone v Aetna Life Ins. C&92 F.3d 1189 (11th Cir. 2010)(empleyehallenging
denial of benefitainder ERISA plan precluded from bringing a breach of fiduciary duty claim
based on wrongful denial of benefjtswilkins v Baptist Healthcare System, k&0 F.3d 609,
616 (8" Cir. 1998) (ERISA claimants may not “simply characterize a denial of herefia
breach of fiduciary duty”).

Finally, to the extent thebreach of fiduciary duty claims apremised upon misleading or

false representations made felephone conversatisnbetween Unitedand the plaintiffs’
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employees, which appears to be the focal thrust of plaintiffs’ claims, theséndependent
not derivative- claims asserted directly by plaintiffs. Howevéire complaint alleges no set of
factswhich wouldplausbly supportthe existenceof independent fiduciarguies owed directly
to plaintiffs, and thereforéails to stateany directclaim for breach ofiduciary dutyupon which
relief may be granted.

Accordingly, the court concludes that plaintiffs lack standing to bring derivative breach of
fiduciary duty claims as a matter of law, and that their direct claimerdnely lacking inthe
factual support and clarity needed to articulgpéaasibleclaim under 29 U.S.C. §1132(a)(3).

I1. Estoppel (Count 4)

Plaintiffs premisetheir equitableestoppel claira solely on communications which alledgd
took place directly between the plaintiffegépresentativesand the defendant’'s agents hus,
although plaintiffslabel andpurport to bring thse claims aslerivative federal common law
ERISA clains, they areclearly is unsustainableas such Rather, plaintiffs’ estoppel claims
survive only to the extent plaintiffs are able to state sufficient facts toosupmirect federal
common law claim of equitable estoppel.

Under federal common law, estoppel may noinyekedto enlarge oextendthe coverage
specified in a insurancecontract. Put another way, estoppel may not be used &ater
contractual liability where no contract originally existed@his rule does not apply, however,
where estoppel ipremised on representationsvhich amount to aninterpretation of an
ambiguous provision of a contract or insurance pl&ane v Aetna Life Ing 893 F.2d 1283
(11" Cir. 1990)(employee seeking to recover benefits urElRISA plan couldinvoke common

law doctrine of equitable estoppel to require insurance company to pay infedisahexpenses
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following adoption, where employee did not rely on estoppel in ordeottfy terms ofERISA-
qualified plan butather tohold insurer to its agent’s interpretation of ambiguous language in the
plan).

As the plaintiffs’ complaint now stands, it does not allege sufficient facts to bring the
estoppel claim within the parameters of this narrowly defined exception. STtz iconplaint
does not allege facts showing that the alleged verbal misrepresentatidefermdants’ agents
constitutednterpretation®f ambiguou€ERISA plan language As discussed in Sectiondupra,
the complaint fails teven identify the specifiplan language under whicthe claimed benefits
areallegedly due. Without a description of the relevant insusimg) exclusionarplanlanguage
as it isspecifically tied to each of the 996 individual procedures at issue impossible to
determine whether an ambiguity exists pertainingtie “medical necessity” ofthe MUA
procedures as they relate to each patiehichv would permit the assertion of independent
equitable estoppel clasrby plaintiffs

Accordingly, theequtable estoppeklaims asserted in Count 4 shall desmissed fofailure
to allege sufficient facts to state a plausible claim uAdeombly with the same limitationand
admonitionson repleading these claims as those applicable to the ERISA beneditnsl
outlined above.

V. Failure to Provide Plan Documents
Defendantalsomove to dismis€ount 3 of the complaint, which alleges a violatan

29 U.S.C.81024(h (4). That sectiomprovidesthata planadministrator shall, “upomriten

requestof any participant obeneficiary’ furnish a copy of the summary plan description

and other plandocuments undemhich the plan is established or operated.The
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administratorsfailure to comply withsucha request renders tlagiministratoidiable to sub
participant orbeneficiaryin an amount of up to $100 per dayith the amount of awardt
the discretion of the court. 29 U.S.C. 8113713 (B).

Defendantsarguethat there arénsufficient facts alleged to showlaintiff's standing to
bring this claim, where the facts alleged do not show plaintiffs’ status as “benefgiari
under any plan. Alternatively, defendants argue that the complaint doesuffiotently
allege defendants’ status as plan administrators to whom this statutory obligation mig
attach.

Plaintiffs argue that they are “beneficiaries,” by virtue of the assggn of benefits
recited in the complaint. Athe court has now ruled, howevarhile anassigneerovider
may have standing to sue for assigned benefits allegedly deeam@RISAplan;this does
not render the assignee a “beneficiary” for all purposes under ERI&HAas CountyHosp.
District v AssociateHealth & Welfare Plan 293 F.3d 282 (?5 Cir. 2002); Hermann
Hospital v MEBA Medical & Benefits PlaB45 F.2d 128@5th Cir. 1988)

Because the complaint in this case alleges only that the patient participhatebciary
assignedhe right to direcpayment for unpaid charges to the plaintiffs, and does not allege
that the patients assigned all rights under thdang, or that plaintiffs ever made an
authorizedrequest for plan documents from defendants or offlen administratds)
supported by a signed authorization from the relevant patient(s), plaintiff$d fetate a
plausible claim upon which relief madye grantedunder 8§ 113@) (1) (b) for failure to
provide plan documents upon written request of “any participant or benefidgastling v

Fruehauf Corp.29 F.3d 1062 (8 Cir. 1994) (plan administrator is under no obligation to

21



disclose plan documents third parties without written authorization from participant or
beneficiary); Barix Clinics of Ohio, Inc. v. Longaberger Family of Companies Group
Medical Plan 459 F.Supp.2d 617 (S.D. Ohio 200B)nich v Sedgwick Claims Management
Services, Inc.2010 WL 4923042 (E.D. Wis. 2010). It is therefore unnecessary to reach the
defendants’ alternative challenge to this clamsed onlack of sufficient facts to show
existence of its status as “plan administratdC8unt 3of the complaint shall accordilygbe
dismissed with prejudice for failure to statelaim for which relief may be granted.
V. CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing, it @RDERED AND ADJUDGED:

1. The clains set forth in Count 1 for wrongful denial of ERISA benefase
DISMISSED WITHOUT PRE JUDICE for failure to state a claimponwhich relief may be
granted. The court shall permit plaintiffs one further and final opportunityptea® this claim
to correctthe pleading deficiencies outlined in this ordgy filing a third amended complaint
within TWENTY (20) DAYS from the date of entry of this order.

2. The clains set forth in Coun# for equitable estoppere DISMISSED WITHOUT
PRJEUDICE for failure to state a claim upon which relief may be granted. The court shall
permit plaintiffs one further and final opportunity to replead this claim tcecbthe pleading
deficiencies outling in this orderby filing a third amended complaint withifWENTY (20)
DAYS from the date of entry of this order.

3. If plaintiffs opt to replead either the derivative ERISA benefits claims or direct
equitable estoppetlaims, theyshall further show cause, by separate statement filed with the

court, as to (1jvhy all patientsassociated with thenderlying benefit claimarenot subject to

22



compulsory joindeias real parties in intereandbr necessary and indispensable partitethis

cause and (2) why the court should not exercise its independent duty to avoid improper joinder
of claims and parties and direct a severance of matthidual derivativeERISA benefitclaim

and correspondindirectequitable estoppel claim, to be tried as separate lawsuits and charged a
separate filing feeas to each such individuatient claim on whiclplaintiffs opt to proceed.

4. The clains set forth in Count 2 for breach of fiduciary duty, eitherdasgvative or
direct claims, are DISMISSED WITH PREJUDICE for failure to state a claimpon which
relief may be granted

5. The clains set forth in Count 3 for failure to provide plan documemeDISMISSED
WITH PREJUDICE for failure to state a claim upon which relief may be granted.

6. In light of ths ruling, thisaction iISSTRICKEN from the March, 2013 trial docket on
which it was previously scheduldéd be tred, and the parties’ joint request for continuance of
trial and amendment of various pretrial deadlines [ECF No. 1ITEMNIED as MOOT.

7. All proceedings upon the defendants’ counterclaimsSa®YED pending further
notice from the court. Plaintiffs’ motion to dismiss counterclaims [ECF No. 28] the
parties’ joint motion regarding briefing on the motion to dismiss cowaidééms [ECF No. 126]
areDENIED as MOOT.

DONE AND ORDERED in Chambers at West Palm Beach, Florida 14$' day of

January2013.

7

(Lol i
Daniel T. K. Hurley
United States District Judge

cc. all counsel
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